DIAA DIRECTOR
NOMINATION PACK

DAIRY INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION OF AUSTRALIA




Dairy Industry
Association
of Australia

FORMS FOR COMPLETION

Nomination of member for position of director

To be completed by voting member (current financial member) of voting
member State

Nominee’s consent & declaration

To be completed by nominee for director position

Biographical details — nominee for director

To be completed by nominee for director position, with content to be
used within ballot material, should a ballot be necessary

REFERENCE DOCUMENTS

BOARD Board Charter
CHARTER

A board charter is a policy document that clearly defines the respective
roles, responsibilities, and authorities of the board of directors (both
individually and collectively) and management in setting the direction,
the management and the control of the organisation.

DIAA DIAA Constitution
CONSTITUTION

A company constitution is a legal document that defines how a
company can operate. It also sets out the rights and duties of people in
the company, such as members, directors and the company secretary

POSITION Position Description

RESRE A position description is a practical tool to help an new board director

understand the tasks and responsibilities of the position and also
provide an indication of where the role fits within the bigger picture of
the organisation

Please forward completed forms to:

Company Secretary DIAA,
Via email to carl.partridge@diaa.asn.au
To be received no later than Wednesday 16" August 2023 @ 5.00pm AEST

Dairy Industry Association of Australia Ltd



Dairy Industry
Association
of Australia

Privacy collection statement
All personal information received by us about you and your organisation will be stored, used and disclosed in

accordance with our privacy policy, a copy of which can be found on the contact page of our website at
www.diaa.asn.au. If you have any questions about how we may use and store your personal information,

please contact us.

Dairy Industry Association of Australia

Ltd


http://www.diaa.asn.au/

Dairy Industry
Association
of Australia

NOMINATION OF MEMBER FOR POSITION OF DIRECTOR

In accordance with Rule 30 of the constitution of the DIAA Ltd, the DIAA is seeking nominations

In every odd year, elections will be held for the regions of a) South Australia b) Queensland; and c) New
South Wales

Nominations for the Board of directors of the company are now called for from voting members in the
states of South Australia and Northern Territory, Queensland and New South Wales and Australian
Capital Territory

Nominations must be received by the Company Secretary no later than Wednesday 16" August
2023 @ 5.00pm AEST

Name of nominee

Residential address of nominee Postcode

Home telephone no. Mobile no.

Email address

is hereby nominated for election to the position of Director in the following category of Board
composition:

U] Board Director, South Australia & NT
U] Board Director, Queensland
] Board Director, New South Wales & ACT

Nominated by:
(Name of nominating member)
(Must be a current financial member of the Dairy Industry Association of Australia.

(Signature Nominating Member) date:

Seconded by:

(Name of member)

(Signature Seconding Member) date:

Dairy Industry Association of Australia

Ltd



Dairy Industry
Association
of Australia

NOMINEE’S CONSENT AND DECLARATION

Under the Corporations Act 2001 a director (company officeholder) must satisfy the following conditions

You are not:

e are an undischarged bankrupt

e have entered into a personal insolvency agreement under the Bankruptcy Act 1966 and failed to fully
comply with the terms of the agreement

e have been banned by ASIC or a court from managing corporations under the Corporations Act 2001
(the length of the banning period will be set by ASIC or the court)

e have been convicted of dishonesty-related offences, such as fraud. (These people are automatically
banned for five years from the date of their conviction or, if imprisoned, for five years from the date of
their release.)

To assist the DIAA to comply with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, nominees must declare
the following:

| declare that:

i) | have never been convicted of certain offences, such as serious offences, dishonesty offences or
other offences that can affect a corporation,

i) I am not an undischarged bankrupt or are subject to a ‘personal insolvency agreement’ which | have
not followed

iii) | have never been disqualified by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC), or
an Australian court.

By signing this declaration,

= | acknowledge that | grant permission for the conduct of probity checks, which may consist of a check of
the Australian Securities and Investment Commission (ASIC) Register of persons prohibited/disqualified
by ASIC under the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001

= | acknowledge that | will advise the DIAA if my circumstance in relation to the above change during my
term as Director.

= | have been a financial member of the DIAA for a minimum period of 2 years

NOMINEE'S CONSENT AND DECLARATION

(please print nominee's name)
consent to my nomination for the position of Director of the Dairy Industry Association of Australia Ltd and
declare that | meet the requirements of the Australian Securities and Investment Commission to accept the
position if duly elected.

Signature of nominee Date

Please send completed form to: DIAA Company Secretary
Email: carl.partridge@diaa.asn.au

To be received no later than Wednesday 16™ August
2023 @ 5.00pm AEST

Dairy Industry Association of Australia

Ltd



Dairy Industry
Association
of Australia

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS — NOMINEE FOR DIRECTOR

The submission of this form with the "Nomination of member for position as director' and “Nominee’s
consent and declaration” forms will assist the DIAA in the preparation of a list of candidates with supporting
information for distribution to DIAA members. In the event of an election in the category of directorship for
which this nomination applies, the information provided in this form will be published to assist voting
members in their ballot deliberations. The information below is required to register new directors as
‘company officeholder’ with the ASIC.

1. Full name of nominee

2, Former name of nominee
(if applicable, changed by deed poll, marriage, etc)

3. Date of birth

4, Place of birth

5. Current status
(BoM/CEQ/Senior Exec)
Duration

6. Qualifications

7. Professional background

8. Other Board/committee
appointments

9. Additional details

Dairy Industry Association of Australia
Ltd



Dairy Industry
Association
of Australia

10. Nomination statement

Nominees may make a brief statement (not exceeding 150 words) in support of their nomination and
only include statements in relation to the applicant.

11. Photograph

Nominees are requested to send an electronic jpg photograph (headshot, passport/portrait style) by
email to carl.partridge@diaa.asn.au.

Please send completed form to: DIAA Company Secretary
Email: carl.partridge@diaa.asn.au

To be received no later than Wednesday 16" August
2023 @ 5.00pm AEST

Dairy Industry Association of Australia

Ltd



Dairy Industry
Association
of Australia

A

2023

Non Executive Director

POSITION DESCRIPTION

DAIRY INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION OF AUSTRALIA




Role:
Length of term:
Reports to:

Location:

Company overview:

Non-Executive Director

2 Years

DIAA National President
Australia - Various

The Dairy Industry Association of Australia (DIAA) is a professional association
for people working in dairy product manufacturing and allied trades
Annual turnover - $1m



The role:

« The Dairy Industry Association of Australia seeks
to appoint a non-executive director. This role is
vacant due to the end of term as defined in the
constitution.

- The role requires attending approximately
5 board meetings and serving on at least one
board committee per year —and associated
preparation — and some interstate travel is
anticipated. It is anticipated 10 hours a month
should be allowed for in support of the role.

« The role may require attendance in monthly
conference calls for management, financial
reporting, and general compliance issues.

Organisational values and code of conduct:

- The role includes being a culture custodian
of the organisation, which includes setting,
promoting, and monitoring the tone of the
organisation’s culture.

Competencies and skills (role related):

+ Knowledge of a director’s responsibilities —
includes an understanding of the role as well
as the legal, ethical, fiduciary, and financial
responsibilities;

- Strategic expertise —the ability to review the
strategy through constructive questioning
and suggestion and contribute to the effective
decision making of the board;

- Accounting and finance —the ability to read
and comprehend the company’s accounts,
financial material presented to the board,
financial reporting requirements and some
understanding of corporate finance;

- Legal —the board’s responsibility involves
overseeing compliance with numerous laws
as well as understanding the individual
director’s legal duties and responsibilities;

- Risk Management —experience in managing areas

of major risk management to the organisation;

Managing people and achieving change —
experience in current management thinking on
employment, branding, engagement, strategic
vision and stakeholder communication; experience
in executive remuneration and compensation.

+ Industry knowledge —experience in similar

organisations or industries;

Competencies (personal attributes):

- Integrity — fulfilling a director’s duties and
---responsibilities; -acting -ethically,- appropriate----------

independence, putting the organisation’s interests
before personal interests;

- Collaborative yet curious and courageous —

a director must be able to function as an effective
team member but also must have the curiosity
to ask questions and the courage to persist in
robust discussions with management and fellow
board members where necessary;

- Emotional intelligence — as well as self-awareness

and self-management, a director needs to
demonstrate empathy manifested through
strong interpersonal skills. A director must work
well in a group, listen well, be tactful yet able to
communicate in a cogent and candid viewpoint;

- Commercial judgement and instinct —a director

needs to demonstrate good business instinct
and acumen, and be able to assimilate and
synthesise complex information;

- Meaningful engagement — a director needs to

be an active contributor with genuine interest
in the company and its business.

Note: The need for other personal competencies
will be consistent with the composition of the
board and its preferred working style.



Educational requirements: Remuneration and benéefits:

- Tertiary education « No remuneration

- ldeally Completion of the Australian Institute - Travel and other expenses.
of Company Directors’ Company Directors
Course

. Other related education/experience



BOARD CHARTER

DAIRY INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION OF AUSTRALIA LTD




1 L0 7] 2 2

2 Role of the Board.......ssissssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss s
3  Responsibilities and functions.........————————
3.1 Strategic DIreCtion ...
3.2 | S0Y U0 AT ] )
3.3 Finance and ACCOUNTING ....c.ccuimsmsmsmsmsssmsisssssmssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssasssssssssssssssssssasas
3.4 RiSK ManNagGeImeNt ......ccuuusismsmsssmsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssasess
3.5 Reporting and Monitoring.......ssssssssss e
3.6 L0000 3] U E: ) 0 Lo 3
3.7 COrporate GOVEIMANCE......ccuumssrmsesmsssssssssssssmssssssssssssssssssssssnssssssssassssnssssssssssssnnsssssnsanss
3.8 AN 01070 0010 00 1) 0L
3.9 (0701100400 D 0T 1 () o
% S & 10T 0o 000 00 0201 L0 .
5 Role of President and COmMPany SECTetary ...
5.1 President O Chair ... s ssssassss
5.2 COMPANY SECTELATY .ouvursrsessssnsmssssmsssassssssssssssssssssssssasssssssssssssnsssssssssssssnsassssssassssnssssssssass
6 BOQId PrOCESSES ..ciuieiuisrarsssssssmsssssssssssssssssssssssssssss s s s sssssss s as s s s s s e s s s s as s s asasssens
6.1 B0ard iNAUCHION ... s ssssssasens
6.2 BOArd FECOTAS ...cvrncsinsessisssssssssssssssss s sssssssss s ssssssssss s s s asssss s s s asasens
7  Association obligation to DirecCtors......—————————
7.1 o 0T ot 0D (S,
8 Review of Board performance ...

9 ReEVIEW Of CHATTET ...civiviisrssrsrsssssrsssessmsssssnsssssssssssssssssssssssnsssssmssassassssssssasssssanssnssnssnssansnssnssn



1 Overview

The purpose of the Charter is to define the rights and responsibilities of the Directors
of the association to assist them in fulfilling their duties and obligations. The Board is
bound by the Constitution and the law. It also works to the policies of the
organisation that are largely reflected in this Charter, which the Board can change as
and when it needs. The Directors must bear in mind that other documents as
referred to in this Charter may need to be read in conjunction with this Charter in
order to gain a full understanding of how the Board may operate and of Directors'
responsibilities.

The policies in this Charter should be adopted by the Board and apply from the date
shown on the document and as reviewed from time to time.

All policies in this Charter are to be read in the context of the Constitution and the
relevant Acts and Regulations.

The Charter will be reviewed by the Board as required and at least once every three
years to ensure currency of content and consistency with the Constitution, Laws and
current policies of the Association.

2 Role of the Board

The Directors jointly as the Board provide leadership, set strategic and policy
direction; and oversee the business and affairs of the association for the purpose for
which the association is established. The Board is accountable to the members of the
association for the overall performance of the association.

The Board does not manage the day-to-day operations of the association. This is
delegated to the CEO or senior member of staff, whatever their title.

3 Responsibilities and functions

The Board in performing its role has a range of responsibilities that generally include:

3.1 Strategic Direction

e Overseeing the development, approval and periodic review of the mission,
objectives/goals and ensuring consistency with the Purposes — rule 6 of the
Constitution.

e Overseeing the development and approval of the strategic plan.

e Ensuring that the association has appropriate processes for regular (at least
annual) review of the strategic plan, alternative strategies,

e Monitoring and assessing achievements and performance against strategic
and business plans.

e |dentifying and acting on any impediments, structural or otherwise, that are
impeding achievement of the strategic plan.

e Approving the association’s annual budget.



3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

Policy setting

To facilitate the efficient working of the association the Board considers and
approves broad policies developed by management.

Such policies should follow a standard format, be as short as reasonable, be
clear as to meaning and be readily available.

Finance and Accounting

Assessing the Board’s capability and financial knowledge and whether it has
the necessary capacity to oversee the business and affairs of the association.
Taking steps needed to ensure the Board addresses any shortfall in its
financial knowledge and capacity to oversee the business and affairs of the
association.

Providing direction to management on financial matters.

Reviewing routine management financial reports.

Approving annual accounts and reports in accordance with the constitution
and Chapter 2M of the Corporations Act.

Ensuring appropriate financial policies and procedures are in place to
safeguard the cash and finances of the association.

Risk Management

Ensuring relevant and suitable risk assessment and management strategies
are in place and reviewing risk management at least annually.
Ensuring relevant insurance cover is in place and reviewing the adequacy of
that cover annually.
Considering the social, ethical and environmental impact of the association’s
activities and modifying policies as appropriate.
Ensuring there is continuing education and information provided to Directors
regarding:

o the business of the association;

o therole of the Board and its functions and obligations; and

o other relevant corporate governance issues.

Reporting and Monitoring

Overseeing the association's financial position including approving financial
statements and monitoring financial performance at each Board meeting.
Monitoring the application of the association's financial control procedures
to ensure internal compliance with established policies.

Monitoring the procedures to ensure internal compliance with all current
legislation.

Compliance

The Board is responsible for meeting specific statutory obligations:



3.7

3.8

3.9

o Review of tax status — completed annually with the financial
statements

o Meeting the reporting requirements of s285A of the Corporations Act
by approving and signing those requirements at the next Board
meeting following the end of the financial year.

o Inaccordance with rule 16.1 of the Constitution, and s250N of the
Corporations Act authorising the calling and holding of the AGM
within 5 months of the end of the financial year.

Each Director is responsible for advising the company secretary within 1
week of any changes occurring in their name, address or other details on the
Director’s Consent and Declaration form (the company secretary is then
responsible under s188 (1) of the Corporations Act for advising ASIC of
changes in required information within 28 days of the change).

The Board is responsible for ensuring the Association meets the
requirements of the Constitution.

Corporate Governance

The Board plays a pivotal role in the corporate governance of the association,
predominantly overseeing, reviewing and updating corporate governance
practices and procedures as necessary to support the association to good
practice corporate governance.

Appointments

Appointing resources as necessary and as per the organisation’s structure
In accordance with rule 46 of the Constitution and Part 2D.4 of the
Corporations Act appointing and removing the Company Secretary/ies and
determining their terms of engagement.

Communication

The Board will instigate a system to provide communication to all members and
stakeholders

4 Board composition

The Board is structured according to rule 26 of the Constitution with at least 5 and
up to 8 Directors.

5 Role of President and Company Secretary

5.1

President or Chair

The President is elected to the position in accordance with rule 40.1 of the
Constitution that says “The Board must elect, from amongst its number, 1 Director to
the position of President and 1 Director to the position of Vice President at least



annually and in any event at the first meeting of the Board following the 1
September. Subject to this rule, the Board may determine the period of which a
Director is to be President or Vice President.”

The President is the official representative and spokesperson for the Board.

5.2 Company Secretary

The Company Secretary supports the effectiveness of the Board and as an officer
under the Corporations Act has a role as chief governance officer to:

e Monitor Board actions to ensure that policy and procedures are followed and
to draw the attention of the Chair for failures to follow requirements; and

e Monitor legal obligations and to draw the attention of the Chair when legal
responsibilities of the association are at risk of not being met.

The Company Secretary has specific obligations in accordance with s188 (1) of the
Corporations Act regarding regulatory obligations.

All Directors have direct and confidential access to the Company Secretary for advice
or assistance on governance matters.

6 Board processes

6.1 Board induction

All new Directors appointed to the Board must be provided with information that
covers Directors’ roles and responsibilities, Board operations and overview of the
association.

The Board conducts an annual review of the Board induction process to ensure that
it is relevant and effective.

6.2 Board records

Directors have rights of access to books and records of the Association to allow them
to fulfil their statutory obligations as Directors. Directors, as a right, do not have
access carte blanche to all records of the Association.

Privacy, conflict of interest, commercial-in-confidence, contractual and service
obligation issues all impinge on the rights of a Director to access to the books and
records of the Association.

Directors do have some statutory rights under the Corporations Act. Section 198F
gives a Director access to books other than financial records for the purposes of legal
proceedings against them while they are a Director and for 7 years after they cease
to be a Director. Section 290 gives a Director a right of access to the financial records
at all reasonable times.



7 Association obligation to Directors

7.1 Protections

Apart from as indicated elsewhere, in support of their role as Directors the
Association will:

e Indemnify Directors to the full extent permitted by law. The Association
cannot provide indemnity for a:
o liability owed to the Association;
o liability for a pecuniary penalty order;
o liability arising out of conduct that is not in good faith
o legal costs in defending criminal proceedings or actions if liability is
established.
e Provide Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance.

8 Review of Board performance

Boards that review their performance perform better. There are various ways to
review performance — jointly/individually, every meeting/periodically,
internally/externally.

The Board is to undertake a formal review of its performance, policies and practices
at least every 2 years. The Board’s performance is based on agreed performance
criteria including how it performs against this charter.

9 Review of Charter

The Board will review the Charter halfway through the Board year to allow new
Directors time after the AGM to assess processes before reviewing them to ensure
that it meet the needs of the Association and the Board.



Dairy Industry Association of Australia Ltd

CONSTITUTION

ACN 635171 603
ABN 98 549 642 932
Public company limited by guarantee

First incorporated on 24 March 1986 as Victorian incorporated association (registration number
A0008622E)

Transferred to a company limited by guarantee on (insert date when known)
Adopted this constitution on (insert date when known) to apply from (insert date when known)



I I ol S A

10.
1.
12
13.
14.
15.

16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21,
22.
23,
24,
25,

26.
27.
28,
29,
30.
3.,
32.
33.
34.
35,

Table of Contents

CENERAL wcicasinssis s sassissussssssas oosismss sy § I das dansd (00000 §ekamsbi s o ey wassess i | s s 4
INAME OF the COMPANY . ...ccortiriiiiieiieeeenr i enmmis e sre e s ars e ad e eeesb e s e et e nr s s s es e ie s 4
TYDPE OF COMPANY ...t civira s eh e bbb bbb e 4
Replaceabie rules and application of the ACt..............ccoi 4
Definitions and INerPretaltion ... 4
Actions aUtNOriSed UNGET 1AW ........oooovvviiiiirrriccc et sssnaaes e 6

PUIPOSES c..eeveeeseseseaneensasassarsereresesrinsessssssse SFRIGHEE AR T EasS0neHss onaaFb TR S s R ssEsa O
POWETS «...veeveseeeesseenssennrs seseaston sseesssenes sossssnssvoRePERTH RN SHeAH SeAE T smae s AT R SR SO SRR OIS RO AL T 909 OO

INCOME @NG PIOPEITY.....eeeeecvcimeiss ettt et b bbb e 7
MEMBERSHIP 1000 000ans iy siaisiinssestsnsesbH s iisksesaessansiss kst iossussisnensss ey ssisstansensescres 7
[N a 101 = USSP OO RPSP R PPPP PR 7
RIGIES OF MEMDETS .....eieiiiiiciciciiies ittt e e e b e e b s s 8
Application for MEMDErShIP ........ocovi it 8
Membership not transferable ... 9
Ceasing to be 8 MEMIDE.........ooi ittt e 9
DIisCIplining of MEmMDBEIS......c..e i it ias s ies s s s o 10
Payments by MEMDErS ... 11
GENERAL MEETINGS ...oiiiiiieccasssssmmssassonmssesessanasas T L TSR WL
Convening of 8 general MEEHNG ........cocuvreiireercnniiiiisis i isesnsassanasenaces |1
Notice of a general MEeetiNg ... s 12
Cancellaiion or postponement of a general meeting...........cccccoiiin e 13
Quorum at a general MELING ... 13
Chair of 8 GenNeral MBELING........coco i ek 14
Conduct of a general MEEtING ......coocooiiiiiiiii s 15
Decisions at @ general MEEtiNG............ccvvervririevrciiiiciiciiiiieiicies i cessses 10
Voting rights at @ general Meeting.........ooer oo 17
Representation at a2 general Mmeeting ... 18
DHMBCE WOUIMY. .. veeeveeveeecirarin e eecs e ebsenb bbb oa e s s s b st Sa g n e bin e s a8 ERS KT SSE RS Sy e S A S F A 20
BOARD OF DIRECTORS wverervrrerrercesesssesssissessssassssssssssasssassesssasssssssssssssssstsssssassasasasssssass 2 1
Number and nature of DIFEOIONS ....c.vvie it e e 21
= LR L= (] S PSPPSR 21
Eligibility of DIirectors ........c..coevvvvvimmeiicicinicns X S BRSSO N 21
Casual vacancies ON e BOAIT .....cocoviiiiie e e 22
e T o = s 0 S PO 22
Vacation of offiGe Of DIr€CtON . ......ooiiiii e e b 23
NO AHEIMNEEE DIMBCIOTS .. .veeiieeveeeeeee e e e e cer et et b e e s e e e s smb e e e b b et hbais s e s re s bbb e e e s b e 23
1 =Y L=t L=e J =L o) - OO U ST 24

Payments to Directors

Powers and duties of Directors

DIAA Ltd constitution



36.
37,
38.
39.
40,
41,
42,
43,
44,

45,

47,
48.
48,
50.
51.
52.
53.
54,
55,
56,

Proceedings of DIFBCIOS. .......coccii ittt e
Convening of 8 Board MEeting. ..o
Notice 0f 8 BOArd MEELING .....covcviir e seis s cas e b e e s s b
Quorum at 8 BOA MEEHNG. ... covri et ieaaasseeraanrssersmmeeeesmre e s mraesrae e oo srecmarsresessrbsrnes
President and Vice President.. ... emninii s
DECISIONS OF DIFSCIOIS ... .. ...t reeecirt e b resaraa b et eee e rnt e e bbb s e st r e st ea s
Circulating reSOIMTIONS ... ..oocreieieeii it bbb s a b
Committees 0T the BOAI ............ccovoveeirirmerrrerrec e mbr et
Validity 0f aCts Of DIFSCIOMS ..ot s e
ADMINISTRATION...corcmsssssnissesissessassnsssmsssmssnssrsessass
BraNORES . ..eeiiieiiiiieiereriiserranmareeersosareesteeseasaaassssesasassaanesssduan bbb adbabesedihabbbabaddieesamm e aaa s
BOOTELAMNY . ...c.veivveeeece ettt et e s a s b b e e e e b s m e e TS d eSS eSS e e SR e eSS S
T [TV = 2 OSSPSR ST
INSPECHION OF TRCOMS .. o1eeviriiii it i e et e e e
ACCOUNS AN AUTIL ... ..o recreer et n s e e e e e
NIOHICES . ..veii i cevieeeritrtie s e eeeeeies st sesse s s et semeeeaaaamaneeenemar e e ians s s e bas s e nan e e e e nmdar e e snan e s e s emt s
Time of SErviCe OF NOLICES ... .cocvereceierere et cmb e ettt
EXeCULION OF QOCUMIEIMES .....uiuiiieeeiirrre e e i e nr i atiaaees s s e e aebb b e e s ed bbb s b e e e s e e eabaaan s e e aaees
Indemnity @nd IMSUFANGE. ......ccoivieee i ce et ita s s sr et e s s s ersn e s smnseita
Changes to this ConstitUtion ...
Transitional PrOVISIONS ......cocvruiriiiiii i s

DlAA Ltd constitution

25
26
26
27
27
27
28
28
29

vernen 29

29
29
30
30

.30

31
32
32
32
33

.33

34



I.  GENERAL

1. Name of the Company
1.1 The name of the company is Dairy Industry Association of Australia Ltd.

2. Type of company
2.1 The Company is a not-for-profit public company limited by guarantee.

2.2 Subject to this Constitution, each Member and each Person who was a
Member within 1 year of them ceasing to be a Member undertakes to
contribute on the winding up of the Company to the property of the
Company for:

a) payment of debts and liabilities of the Company provided that for
each Person who was a Member the debts and liabilities were
contracted before they ceased to be a Member;

b) payment of the costs, charges and expenses of winding up; and
¢) any adjustment of the rights of the contributories among themselves.

2.3  The amount to be contributed under rule 2.2 is such amount as may be
required up to the amount owed, if any, by the Member or the Person for
any charges or fees related to membership up to a limit of $1.00.

3. Replaceable rules and application of the Act

3.1 This Constitution is to be interpreted subject to the Act, however, the
rules that apply as replaceable rules to companies under the Act are
displaced by this Constitution and do not apply to the Company except
to the extent they may be repeated in this Constitution.

4. Definitions and interpretation

4.1 Inthis Constitution unless it is inconsistent with the subject or context in
which it is used:

AGM means an annual general meeting of the Company.
ASIC means the Austrafian Securities & Investments Commission.

Board means some or all of the Directors acting as the board of
directors of the Company.

Branch Commiittee means the body referred to in clause 45.2.

Business Day means a day not being Saturday, Sunday or a public
holiday on which the banks (as defined in the Banking Act 1959) are
open for business in Victoria.

Company means Dairy Industry Association of Australia Ltd

Constitution means this constitution as amended or supplemented from
time to time.

Act means the Corporations Act 2001(Cth).

DIAA Ltd constitution 4



Director means an individual elected or appointed from time to time to
the office of director of the Company in accordance with this
Constitution.

Electronic Contact Address means an electronic destination such as
an email address to which notices and other material from the Company
can be transmitted or made available with reasonable certainty that they
will be delivered to or will be accessible by the intended recipient.

Member means a member of the Company in accordance with part 1l of
this Constitution.

Purposes means the purposes of the Company in rule 6.
Officer has the same meaning as in the Act.

Person means an individual or any partnership, association, body or
entity whether incorporated or not.

President means a Director elected or appointed from time to time to
the office of President in accordance with rule 40.1 of this Constitution.

Register means the register of Members pursuant to the Act.

Representative means the individual, as advised by the Member to the
Secretary from time to time, who is appointed by a body corporate that is
a Member to exercise all or any of the powers that the body corporate
may exercise as a Member including all the powers in accordance with
the requirements of section 250D of the Act.

Secretary means any individual appointed by the Board in accordance
with rule 46 to perform the duties of company secretary of the Company.

42 A Member is taken to be present at a general meeting if the Member is
present in person or by Representative or by attorney or by proxy or,
when applicable, by direct vote.

4.3 Avreference in a rule in general terms to a person holding or occupying a
particular position or office includes a reference to any person who
occupies or performs the duties of that position or office for the time
being.

4.4  In this Constitution, the following rules of interpretation apply unless the
context requires otherwise:

a) a gender includes ail genders;
b) singular includes plural and vice versa;

¢) where a word or phrase is defined, its other grammatical forms or
parts of speech have corresponding meaning;

d) areference to a rule or sub-rule is to a rule or sub-rule of this
Constitution and includes any further embedded content;

e) areference to any legislation or to any provision of any legisiation
includes any modification or re-enactment of it, any legislation
substituted for it and any regulations and statutory instruments
issued under it; and

DJAA Ltd constitution 5



f) the words ‘writing’ and ‘written’ include any mode of representing or
reproducing words, figures, drawings or symbols in a visible or
communicable form.

4.5 Cross references are for convenience only. A cross reference in a
particular rule identifies another rule that impinges on the interpretation
of the particular rule in a key way. Not ali rules that may affect the
interpretation of the particular ruie are cross referenced.

46 Headings, bold type and italics are for convenience only and do not
affect the interpretation of this Constitution.
5. Actions authorised under law

51  Where the Act authorises a company to do any matter or thing if so
authorised by its constitution, the Company is taken by this rule to be so
authorised or permitted to do that matter or thing.

6. Purposes

6.1  The Purposes for which the Company is established are to advance the
capabilities of dairy industry professionals and be a forum for the
promation of excellence in the Australian dairy industry.

6.2 The Company pursues these Purposes through a range of activities and
services that may include but not be limited to:

a) facilitating the sharing of information and knowledge of interest and
benefit to Members and the industry;

b} providing and promoting professional development events and
education for persons engaged in or associated with the Australian
dairy industry;

c) providing networking opportunities for Members;

d) recognising excellence in and service and contribution to the
Australian dairy industry; and

e) doing anything ancillary to the Purposes in rule 6.1.

7. Powers

7.1  The Company may act in ways and matters consistent with the direct
and indirect pursuit of its Purposes and in ways and matters incidental to
its Purposes and in ways that, under the Act, a public company limited
by guarantee may exercise, take or engage in if authorised by its
constitution. In pursuing the Purposes, the Company may, in any
manner permitted by the Act:

a) exercise any power,
b) take any action; or
¢) engage in any conduct or procedure.

DIAA Ltd constitution 6



8. Income and property

8.1

8.2

8.3

The income and property of the Company must be applied only towards
promoting the Purposes.

Subject to rule 8.3, no income or property of the Company shall be paid,
transferred or distributed, directly or indirectly, by way of dividend, bonus
or other profit distribution, to any Member of the Company, any former
Member of the Company, any Director or any former Director or to any
person claiming through such a Person.

Nothing in this Constitution shall prevent payment in good faith of:

a) reasonable and proper remuneration to any employee of the
Company;

b} subject to this Constitution, reasonable and proper amounts to any
Member in return for any services they render to the Company,

¢) interest at a rate not exceeding interest at the rate for the time being
payable to the Company’s bankers for money lent or that would be
lent to the Company;

d) reasonable and proper rent for premises leased by any Member to
the Company;

e) reimbursement in good faith of out-of-pocket expenses incurred on
behalf of the Company where such expenses have been
appropriately authorised in accordance with processes as
determined by the Board from time to time; and

f) any other sums payable under this Constitution.

. MEMBERSHIP

9. Members

9.1

9.2

Apart from the individuals who were Members listed in the Register and
on the application for registration of the Company at the time when this
Constitution became effective (and who were the members of Dairy
Industry Association of Australia Inc AOO08622E), subject to rule 13, the
Members of the Company are the individuals who are interested in the
Purposes of the Company that agree to become Members and that the
Board in its absolute discretion admits to membership in accordance
with this Constitution.

There are 2 classes of membership:

a) Full Members open to individuals who, in the opinion of the Board:
i) have a professional interest in the dairy industry;
i) support the Purposes; and
iil) satisfy any further criteria as prescribed in the by-laws.

b) Associate Members open to other individuals interested in the
Purposes but who are not eligible to be Full Members.

DIAA Lid constitution 7



9.3 The Board may provide for additional categories of membership within
each class on such conditions as the Board determines provided that
the rights of Members shall be in accordance with rule 10.

9.4  For all purposes, including purposes under the Act, a category of
membership under this Constitution does not necessarily constitute a
distinct class of Member.

9.5 Unless otherwise provided by the terms of membership of a class of
Members the processes for changing rights of a class of Member are as
specified in the Act.

9.6 The number of Members is unlimited.

10. Rights of Members
10.1 A Member has a right:
a) to attend and to speak at general meetings;

b) to nominate or to be nominated and to be appointed a Director
subject to rule 28; and

¢) to vote at general meetings and on resolutions put to the
membership and on the election of Elected Directors provided that
the Member is a Full Member and is financial (see rule 13.1h).

10.2 For the purposes of clarity, the Board may extend privileges of
membership, including privileges related to access to services provided,
that may differ between categories of membership and within categories
of membership based on fees paid but no such privilege shall affect the
rights of Members in rule 10.1.

11. Application for membership
11.1  Any eligible Person may apply for membership.

11.2 The application for membership must be submitted in writing in the form
the Board prescribes from time to time. Such form must provide for the
Elecironic Contact Address of the applicant.

11.3 The Board may delegate the consideration and determination of any
membership application.

11.4 In no case shall the Directors be required to give a reason for the
rejection of any application for membership.

11.5 Subject to rule 11.4, when a decision regarding an applicant for
membership has been made written notice of that decision shall be sent
to the applicant.

11.6 The acceptance of an applicant to be a Member is subject to payment of
any fees in accordance with rule 15 and if such payment is not made
then the Board may, in its discretion, cancel its acceptance of the
applicant for membership of the Company.

11.7 If the applicant has not previously been a Member and is not admitted to
membership in due course then any moneys paid by them for
membership must be returned to them in full.

DIAA Ltd constitution 8



11.8 Subject to rules 9 & 11.6, an applicant becomes a Member and is
entitled to exercise the rights and privileges of that membership when
their name is entered in the Register.

12. Membership not transferable

12.1  Arright, privilege or obligation that an individual has by reason of being a
Member of the Company:

a)

is personal to the Member and not capable of being transferred to
another Person by a Member’s own act or by operation of law; and

b) terminates upon the cessation of membership whether by death,

resignation or otherwise, subjectto rule 2.2 & 2.3.

13. Ceasing to be a Member
13.1 A Member shall cease to be a Member:

a)
b)

c)
d)

e)

f)

9)

h)

if the Member resigns by notice in writing;

if the Member ceases to be eligible for membership in accordance
with rule 9.2 unless the Board resolves otherwise;

if the Member dies;

if the Member becomes an individual who is, or whose estate is,
liable to be dealt with in any way under the law relating to mental
health;

if the Member is expelled under rule 14;

in any other circumstances prescribed in the terms of membership
applicable to the Member or in the failure to satisfy any undertaking
given by the Member upon them being admitted as a Member on the
date that the Board resolves to cease the membership unless the
Board resolves otherwise;

if the Member is convicted of an indictable offence, on the date that
the Board resolves to cease the membership unless the Board
resolves otherwise: or

if the Member has not paid moneys (including fees applicable under
rule 15) due and payable to the Company within 3 months of a final
request for payment of those moneys being sent to the Member and
during that 3 months’ period the Member is deemed to be not
financial until the moneys are paid.

13.2 Any Member ceasing to be a Member:

a)

b)

DIAA Ltd constitution

shall not be entitied to any refund, in full or part, of any fee paid in
accordance with rule 15; and

shall not be readmitted as a Member until any unpaid moneys
outstanding at the time they ceased to be a Member are paid
including any interest or other charges levied on any outstanding
moneys.



14. Disciplining of Members

14.1  Subject to this rule the Board may resolve by a majority of at least 75%
(rounded down when it is not a whole number) of Directors present and
eligible to vote to expel any Member, or to suspend any Member from
membership for a specified period, if the Member in the opinion of the
Board:

a) has failed to comply with this Constitution;

b) has failed to comply with any code of behaviour or of conduct or of
values:

c) has failed to comply with the terms of membership applicable to the
Member;

d) subject to rule 13.1f) has failed to satisfy any undertaking given by
the Member upon their admission to membership; or

e) has acted in a manner that renders it undesirable that the Member
continues to be a Member where such action could include that the
Member has acted in a manner prejudicial to the interests of the
Company.

14.2 If the Board passes a resolution in accordance with rule 14.1 to expel or
suspend a Member, then the Secretary must give the Member written
notice:

a) setting out the resolution and the grounds upon which it was based;
and

b) stating that the Member has 28 calendar days from the date of the
notice to give written submissions to the Directors in response to the
resolution.

14.3 If the Member gives written submissions in response {0 the resolution,
then the Board must consider those submissions at its next meeting and
the Secretary must then give the Member written notice:

a) as to whether or not the Board still intends to proceed with the
resolution; and

b) if the Board does so intend, that the Member has 28 calendar days
from the date of the notice to advise the Directors in writing that the
Member requires the matter be referred to mediation.

14.4 If the Member does not give written submissions within the time
specified in rule 14.2b) or does not give advice in writing within the time
specified in rule 14.2b) & 14.3 in response to the resolution then the
Board may proceed in accordance with rule 14.6.

14.5 If the matter is referred to mediation under rule 14.3 then the mediation
must be conducted:

a) in such manner as the Board reasonably determines; and

b} in accordance with the rules of procedural fairess, as determined
by the Board.

DIAA Ltd constitution 10



15,

16.

14.6 Once the mediation is concluded or if the Member gives no advice in

14.7

14.8

writing under rule 14.3 or if the Member makes no written submissions in
accordance with rule 14.2b) then the Board may decide whether or not
to endorse the resolution under rule 14.1 at which time the Board may
resolve to implement the resolution under rule 14.1 to expel the Member
by removing the Member from the Register or to suspend the Member
for a specified period.

The Secretary must give written notice to the Member of the decision of
the Board arising from rule 14.6.

Each party must pay an equal share of the cost of mediation.

Payments by Members

15.1

152

1563

15.4

The Board may determine from time to time to charge Members fees
comprising joining fees, annual subscriptions and specific purpose levies
and charges.

The Board may determine different fees for amounts charged to
Members as between categories, if any, of Members and as between
Members within a category of membership. The Board may determine
that no fee is payable by a Member.

Any amounts charged to Members are payable in such manner and at
such times as are determined by the Board.

No part of any fee paid shall be refunded to a Member who ceases to be
a Member in accordance with rule 13.

GENERAL MEETINGS

Convening of a general meeting

16.1

16.2

16.3

The Board or any majority of Directors in office at the time may,
whenever it or they think fit, call and arrange to hold a general meeting
of the Company. The Board must call and arrange to hold an AGM in
accordance with the requirements of the Act.

Apart from as provided by rufe 16.1, a general meeting of the Company
may be ordered by the court or be called and arranged to be held by
Members by following the process in section 249 of the Act provided that
the Board may accept a request from fewer Members than required
under the Act.

Without requesting a general meeting, Full Members may give the
Company notice of a valid resolution that they propose to move at a
general meeting in accordance with the Act, except that the Board may
accept such a notice that is given by fewer Members than would be
required in accordance with the Act.

a) If the Company has been given notice of a valid resolution in
accordance with rule 16.3, notice of the resolution is to be given to
Members and the resolution is to be considered at a general
meeting in accordance with this Constitution and the Act, except
that, subject to rule 17, the resolution may be considered at a

DIAA Ltd constitution 11



17.

16.4

general meeting that is scheduled to occur within 2 months of notice
of the Members’ resolution being received by the Company.

The Board may change the venue for, postpone or cancel a general
meeting of the Company unless the meeting is called and arranged to
be held by the Members or the court under rule 16.2. If a general
meeting is called and arranged to be held under rule 16.2, the Board
may make changes or cancel the meeting by following the relevant
procedures in section 249 of the Act.

16.5 A general meeting of the Company may be convened to occur at 2 or

16.6

more venues using any technology that gives the Members in
attendance a reasonable opportunity to participate in the meeting.

A general meeting convened in accordance with rule 16.5 is not
invalidated due to a failure of the technology unless the failure arose out
of conduct of an Officer which was not in good faith, or which involved
wilful misconduct, gross negligence, reckless behaviour or fraud.

Notice of a general meeting

171

17.2

17.3

17.4

17.5

Subject to this Constitution, at least 21 days’ notice (or such cther
minimum period as may be prescribed by the Act) of a general meeting
must be given in the manner authorised by rule 50 to each person who
is at the date of the notice:

a) aMember;

b) a Director; or

¢) an auditor of the Company.

A notice of a general meeting must specify:
a) the place, date and time of the meeting;

b) subject to rule 17.4, the general nature of any business to be
conducted at the meeting;

¢) if a special resolution is to be proposed, the details of and intention
to propose it; and

d) if the meeting is to be held in 2 or more places then the technology
that will be used to facilitate this.

Except as provided in rule 17.4, no business other than that specified in
the notice convening a general meeting may be transacted at that
general meeting.

It is not necessary for a notice of an AGM to state that the business to
be transacted at the meeting includes the consideration of any annual
financial report, Directors’ report, any report from the auditor, the
appointment of Directors, the appointment of the auditor when required
or the fixing of the auditor's remuneration when required.

A Member may waive notice of a general meeting by notice in writing to
the Company.

DIAA Ltd constitution 12



17.6 The accidental failure to give notice of any general meeting to, or the
non-receipt of notice of a meeting by, any Person entitled to receive
notice will not invalidate the proceedings at or any resolution passed at
the meeting.

17.7 A Person’s attendance at a general meeting waives any objection that
that Person may have to a failure to give notice, or the giving of a
defective notice, of the meeting.

17.8 Despite rule 17.1, a shorter notice period is allowed for a general
meeting but only by following the requirements of section 249H of the
Act.

18. Cancellation or postponement of a general meeting
18.1 The Board may cancel a general meeting of the Company that:
a) has bheen convened by the Board; or

b) has been convened at the requisition of a Member or Members
pursuant to rule 16.2 upon receipt by the Company of written notice
withdrawing the requisition signed by that Member or those
Members with the consequence that there are less than half the
requisitioning Members remaining who still wish for the meeting to
be convened.

18.2 Subject to rule 16.4, the Board may postpone a general meeting or
change the venue at which it is to be held. No business shall be
transacted at any postponed meeting other than the business stated in
the notice to the Members relating to the original meeting.

18.3 Where any general meeting is cancelled or postponed or the venue for
the meeting is changed:

a) the Board must make a reasonable attempt to notify in writing each
person entitled to receive notice of the meeting of the cancellation,
the change of venue or the postponement of the meeting by any
means permitted by this Constitution and in the case of the
postponement of a meeting, the new place, date and time for the
meeting; but

b) any failure to notify in writing any person entitled to receive notice of
the meeting or failure of a person to receive a written notice shall not
affect the validity of the cancellation, the change of venue or the
postponement of the meeting.

19. Quorum at a general meeting

19.1 No business may be transacted at any general meeting uniess a quorum
of Members entitled to vote is present at all times during the meeting.

19.2 A quorum shall be the number of Full Members present (see rule 4.2),
that is equivalent to 5% of the total number of Full Members.

19.3 If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the time appointed for
a general meeting:

DIAA Ltd constitution 13



a) the meeting, if convened upon the requisition of Members in
accordance with rule 16.2, shall be dissolved; and

b) in any other case:

1) the meeting stands adjourned to such day, and at such time and
place, as the President determines or, if no determination is
made by the President, to the same day in the next week at the
same time and place; and

ii) if, at the adjourned meeting, a quorum is not present within 30
minutes after the time appointed for the meeting, the meeting
must be dissolved.

20. Chair of a general meeting
20.1  The President shall preside as chair at each general meeting unless:
a} there is no President;

b) the President is not present within 15 minutes after the time
appointed for the meeting or, subject to rule 19.3, the time at which
a quorum is present, whichever is later; or

c) the President is present within that time but is not willing to act as
chair of the meeting.

20.2 When the President does not praside in accordance with rule 20.1 then:

a) the Directors present must elect as chair of the meeting another
Director who is present and willing to act; and

b) if no other Director willing to act is present at the meeting, the Full
Members who are present in person at the meeting may elect as
chair of the meeting a Full Member who is present in person and
willing to act provided the Member so elected is entitled to vote at
the meeting.

20.3 Despite anything in rules 20.1 & 20.2, if the President and/or any other
Director or Directors later attend a general meeting or later are willing to
act in the role of chair, the relevant President or Director/s (elected if
necessary as outlined in rule 20.2a) must take over as chair of the
general meeting.

20.4 Subject to rule 21, the chair of a general meeting:

a) shall ensure that all items on the agenda are dealt with, and in the
sequence set out, unless the Members who are present in person
and have a right to vote consent to the order being changed;

b) shall conduct the meeting in a manner designed to facilitate decision
making and the transaction of business; and

c) shall superintend and control the proceedings in accordance with
the requirements of the relevant law, this Constitution and the broad
conventions of debate.

DIAA Ltd constitution 14



21.10 Where a mesting is adjourned, the Board may change the venue of,

postpone or cancel the adjourned meeting unless the meeting was
called and arranged to be held by the Members or the court in
accordance with rule 16.2. If a meeting is called and arranged to be held
in accordance with rule 16.2 then the Board may not postpone it beyond
the date by which such a meeting would be required under the Act and
may not cancel it without the consent of the requisitioning Members.

22, Decisions at a general meeting

221

222

223

224

22.5

226

227

22.8

229

Questions arising at a general meeting are to be decided by at least a
majority of votes cast by the Full Members present (see rule 4.2) at the
meeting who are eligible to vote and any such decision is for all
purposes a decision of the Members, except in the case of any
resolution which under this Constitution or as a matter of law requires a
special majority.

At any time before a vote on a motion is taken at a general meeting, a
summary of the proxy position and, if applicable, direct votes received in
relation to the motion must be disclosed to the meeting.

In the case of an equality of votes upon any proposed resolution the
chair of the meeting, in addition to any deliberative vote, does not have a
casting vote and the proposed resolution is not passed.

A resolution put to the vote of a general meeting must be decided on a
show of hands of the Full Members present in person and eligible to
vote (see rule 23.3) unless a poll is demanded before the vote is taken
or before or immediately after the declaration of the result of the show of
hands.

Where a general meeting is called in accordance with rule 16.5 Full
Members present in person via technology and who cannot be seen for
a show of hands may cast their vote by voice or by electronic or other
means approved by the chair of the meeting.

On a show of hands all Full Members present in person and eligible to
vote have 1 vote. Any additional votes that any Member may be entitled
to exercise shall not be exercisable on a show of hands but will be
exercisable on a poll.

Under rule 22.4 a poll may be demanded:
a) by the chair of the meeting; or

b) by the lesser of at least 3 Full Members present (see rule 4.2} and
having the right to vote on the resolution or Members with at least
5% of the votes that may be cast on the resolution on a poll.

A demand for a poll does not prevent the continuation of a general
meeting for the transaction of any business other than the question on
which the poll has been demanded.

At any general meeting, unless a poll is demanded, a declaration by the
chair of the meeting that a resolution has been passed or lost, having
regard to the majority required, and an entry to that effect in the minutes

DIAA Ltd constitution 16



21.

Conduct of a general meeting

211

212

21.3

214

215

216

21.7

21.8

21.9

The chair of a general meeting may at any time they consider it
necessary or desirable for the proper and orderly conduct of the
meeting:

a) impose a limit on the time that a person may speak on each motion
or other item of business, question, motion or resolution being
considered by the meeting and require the business, question,
motion or resolution to be put to a vote of the Members present (see
rule 4.2); and

b) adopt any procedures for casting or recording votes at the meeting
whether on a show of hands, on the voices or a poll, including the
appointment of scrutineers.

Any question arising at a general meeting relating to the order of
business, subject to rules 20.4a) & 21.5, procedure or conduct of the
meeting must be referred to the chair of the meeting whose decision is
final.

The chair of a general meeting may take any action they consider
appropriate for the safety of persons attending the mesting and the
orderly conduct of the meeting and may refuse admission to, or require
to leave, and remain out of, the meeting any individuai:

a) who behaves or threatens to behave in a dangerous, offensive or
disruptive way,; or

b} who is not entitled to receive notice of the general meeting if they
are not the proxy, attorney or representative of a person entitled to
receive notice of the general meeting.

The chair of the meeting may delegate powers conferred by rule 21.3 to
any person they think fit.

The chair of a general meeting may at any time during the course of a
general meeting, and must if so directed by the meeting, adjourn from
time to time and from place to place the meeting or any business,
motion, question or resolution being considered or remaining to be
considered by the meeting or any debate or discussion either to a later
time at the same meeting or to an adjourned meeting as determined by
the chair of the meeting.

No business may be transacted at any adjourned general meeting other
than the business left unfinished at the meeting from which the
adjournment took place.

A resolution passed at a general meeting resumed after an adjournment
is passed on the day that it is passed.

Where a meeting is adjourned for 30 days or more, notice of the
adjourned meeting must be given as in the case of the original meeting.

Except as provided by rule 21.8, it is not necessary to give any notice of
an adjournment or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned
meeting, subject to rule 18.3.

DIAA Ltd constitution 15



23.

22.10

22.11

2212

of the proceedings of the general meeting of the Company which has
been signed by the chair of the relevant general meeting or of the next
succeeding general meeting, is conclusive evidence of the fact without
proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or
against the resolution.

If a poll is demanded at a general meeting, it will be taken in such
manner and either at once or after an interval or adiournment or
otherwise as the chair of the meeting directs, subject to rule 22.11, and
the result of the pol! will be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll
was demanded, and an entry to that effect in the minutes of the
proceedings of the general meeting of the Company, is conclusive
evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the
votes recorded in favour of or against the resolution.

a) Where a general meeting is called in accordance with rule 16.5 and
a poll is demanded, Full Members present (see rule 4.2) via
technology may cast their vote by informing the chair of the general
meeting who must complete the poll for them in good faith on their
instructions or by electronic or other means approved by the chair of
the meeting.

A poll demanded at a general mesting on the election of a chair of the
meeting pursuant to rule 20.2b) or on an adjournment pursuant to
rule 21.5 must be taken immediately.

The demand for a poll may be withdrawn.

Voting rights at a general meeting

23.1

232

23.3

23.4

235

236

Subject to this Constitution, at a general meeting every Full Member
who is entitled to vote and who is present in person has 1 vote on a
show of hands.

An Appointed Director who is not a Member has a right to attend and to
speak at a general meeting but has no right to a vote at a general
meeting in their capacity of an Appoeinted Director.

At a general meeting a proxy is not entitled to a vote on a show of hands
but is entitled to a vote if a poll is called.

A proxy is entitled to vote separately for each Full Member the person
represents, in addition to any vote(s) they may have as a Full Member in
their own right.

An objection to the qualification of a person to vote at a general meeting:

a) must be raised before or at the meeting at which the vote objected
to is given or tendered; and

b) must be referred to the chair of the meeting whose decision on the
qualification to vote is final.

A vote not disallowed by the chair of the meeting under rule 23.5b) is
valid for all purposes.

DIAA Lid constitution 17



24. Representation at a general meeting

24.1 Subject to this Constitution, each Member entitled to vote at a general
meeting may vote:

242

243

24.4

24.5

DIAA Lid constitution

a)
b)

c)

in person including by attorney where proof of the power of attorney
is provided to the Secretary at least 48 hours prior to the meeting,

by direct vote using electronic and/or postal means where such an
option is offered by the Board; or

by proxy.

The general rights and procedures related to a proxy that apply in
accordance with the Act apply to a proxy appointed under this
Constitution.

A proxy may, but need not, be a Member or a Member who is entitled to
vote.

A proxy may be appointed for all general mestings, or any number of
general meetings, or for a particular general meeting.

Unless otherwise provided in the instrument, subject to rule 22.4, the
instrument appointing a proxy wilt be taken:

a)
b)
c)

d)

f)

to confer authority to agree to a meeting being convened by shorter
notice than is required by the Act or by this Constitution;

to confer authority to speak to any proposed resolution on which the
proxy may vote,;

to confer authority to demand, or join in demanding, a poll on any
resolution on which the proxy may vote in a poll;

to appoint the chair of the general meeting as the proxy uniess the
Member clearly specifies ancther person as proxy and that person
attends the general meeting;

even though the instrument may refer to specific resolutions and
may direct the proxy how to vote on those resolutions:

i) to vote, in a way that is consistent with any direction given by
the Member on the proxy form, on any amendment moved to
any of the proposed resolutions and on any motion that any of
the proposed resolutions not be put or any similar motion,;

ii} to vote on a poll on any procedural motion, including any motion
to elect the chair, to vacate (in the case of a Member chair
elected under rule 20.2b) the chair or to adjourn the meeting
(including by motion that the chair leave the chair); and

iii) to act generally at the meeting, and

even though the instrument may refer to a specific meeting, to be
held at a specific time or venue, where the meeting is rescheduled
or adjourned to another time or changed to another venue, to attend
and vote at the rescheduled or adjourned meeting or at the new
venue.

18



24.6 An instrument appointing a proxy may direct the manner in which the
proxy is to vote in respect of a particular resolution and, where an
instrument so provides, the proxy is not entitled to vote on the proposed
resolution except as directed in the instrument.

a) Where the instrument so directs the proxy how o vote and the
person appointed as proxy is not the chair of the meeting and the
proxy does not exercise the vote when a poll is called then the chair
of the meeting is taken, before voting on the resoiution closes, to
have been appointed as the proxy for the purposes of voting on the
resolution at the mesting.

24.7 Subject to rule 24.10, an instrument appointing a proxy need not be in
any particuiar form provided it is in writing, contains the Member's name
and address, the Company's name, the proxy’s name or the office held
by the proxy, the meetings at which the appointment may be used and
either:

a) be signed by the appointer or the appointer's attorney; or
b) be authenticated in such manner as the Board may determine,

248 A proxy may not vote at a general mesting or adjourned meeting or on a
poll unless the instrument appointing the proxy, and the authority under
which the instrument is signed or a certified copy of the authority, are
received in or at a place, fax number or electronic address specified in
the notice of meeting at least:

a) 48 hours (or such other minimum period as may be prescribed by
the Act); or

b) such lesser period specified for this purpose in the notice calling the
meeting.

24.9 For the purposes of rule 24.8:

a) the place may be the Company’s registered office or other place
specified in the notice and a fax number or electronic address may
be the fax number or electronic address at the Company’s
registered office or the fax number or electronic address specified in
the notice; and

b} the lesser period may be any time set by the Board before the time
for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting.

24.10 The Directors may waive all or any of the requirements of rules 24.7 &
24.8 and in particular may, upon the production of such other evidence
as the Directors require to prove the validity of the appointment of a
proxy, accept:

a) an oral appointment of a proxy;

b) an appointment of a proxy which is not signed and executed in the
manner required by rule 24.7); and

c) the deposit, tabling or production of a copy, including a copy sent by
facsimile or by electronic transfer, of an instrument appointing a

DIAA Ltd constitution 19



proxy or of the power of attorney or other authority under which the
instrument is signed.

24.11 A later appointment of a proxy or attorney revokes an earlier one if both
appointments could be validly exercised at the meeting.

24.12 A vote given in accordance with the terms of an instrument appointing a
proxy is valid despite the revocation of the instrument or of the authority
under which the instrument was executed, if no notice in writing of the
revocation has been received by the Company by the time and at 1 of

the places at which the instrument appointing the proxy is required to be
received under rules 24.8 & 24.10.

24.13 The appointment of a proxy is not revoked by the appointer attending
and taking part in the general meeting but, if the appointer votes on any
resolution, the proxy is not entitled to vote, and must not vote, as the
appointer’s proxy on the resolution.

24.14 The chair of a general meeting may require any person acting as a
proxy to establish to the satisfaction of the chair of the meeting that the
person is the person nominated as proxy in the form of proxy lodged
under this Constitution. If the person is unable to establish their identity,

they may be excluded from voting in which case rule 24.6a) applies
unless the form of proxy indicates otherwise.

25. Direct Voting

25.1 The Board may determine that at any general meeting, a Full Member
who is entitled to attend and vote on a resolution at that meeting is
entitled to a direct vote in respect of that resolution. A “direct vote”
includes a vote delivered to the Company by post or any electronic
means approved by the Board. The Board may prescribe by-laws in
relation to direct voting, including specifying the form, method and timing
of giving a direct vote at a meeting in order for the vote to be valid.

DIAA Ltd constitution 20



26.

27.

28.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Number and nature of Directors
26.1 There must be not less than 5 and not more than 8 Directors
26.2 Of the Directors at any time:

a) at least 5 must and up to 6 may be elected by the Full Members or
appointed to fill casual vacancies in accordance with rule 29.1 and
shall be designated Elected Directors; and

b) up to 2 may be from the same State or Territory as determined by
their address in the Register or if they are not a Member, from their
ordinary residential address.

26.3 The Board may appoint additional Directors so long as the total number
of Directors is not more than 8 and such Directors shall be designated
Appointed Directors.

Terms of Directors

27.1  Subject to rule 29.1, the term for an Elected Director shall normally be 2
years but a retiring Director who is eligible may stand for re-election or
re-appointment.

27.2 Terms for Elected Directors shall commence from 1% of September in
the year they were elected until 31% of August 2 years later.

27.3 The term for an Appointed Director shall be such period as the Board
determines at the time of appointment up to 24 months from the date of
appointment. A Member who is no longer an Appointed Director who is
otherwise eligible may nominate for election or be appointed as an
Elected Director.

27.4 A Director may serve as a Director for up to 8 consecutive years. At the
completion of the 8th consecutive year, or if the Director ceases to be a
Director for any reason during the 8™ consecutive year, they are not
eligible to be appointed or elected a Director until at least 2 years has
passed from when they ceased to be a Director.

Eligibility of Directors
28.1 Elected Directors must be Full Members.

28.2 Appointed Directors may be Members but do not have to be Members.

28.3 Appointed Directors must have skills, experience, perspectives or
capabilities that the Board determines from time to time are important for
the Board.

28.4 To be eligible to stand for election or appointment as a Director, an
individual, if 2a Member, must be financial and the Member must not be
subject to any circumstance in accordance with rule 31.2 that would
result in them ceasing to be a Director once elected or appointed.

DIAA Ltd constitution 21



29. Casual vacancies on the Board

291

29.2

29.3

If a casual vacancy in the position of an Elected Director occurs, the
Board may appoint any eligible Full Member to that position after
consulting with the relevant Branch Committee of the State or Territory
that the vacating Director came from. Any such appointee holds office
for the remainder of the term and if otherwise eligible and nominated,
may stand for election as an Elected Director at the next election.

Subject to rule 28.3, if a vacancy in the position of an Appointed Director
oceurs, the Board may appoint any individual in accordance with rule
27.3 at any time.

The Board may act even if there are vacancies on the Board. If the
number of Directors is reduced below the minimum in rule 26, however,
the continuing Directors may act only:

a) in an emergency; or

b) for the purposes of appointing additional eligible individuals as
Directors up to the minimum number; or

¢) to convene a general meeting.

30. Election of Directors

30.1

30.2

30.3

30.4

30.5

For the purposes of the election of Elected Directors, the membership
will be segmented into 6 regions as below:

a) New South Wales and Australian Capital Territory;
b) Queensland,

¢} South Australia and Northern Territory;

d} Tasmania;

e) Victoria; and

f) Western Australia.

Where two or more candidates from the same region are nominated, a
ballot will be held in accordance with the procedures determined by the
Board for the conduct of the direct baliot by post and/or by electronic or
other direct means of voting. There will be separate ballots held for each
region. Only Full Members residing in that region may vote in the
relevant ballot for their region.

If only one candidate is nominated from a particular region then that
candidate will be deemed slected. If no nominations are received from a
particular region then the position is deemed a casual vacancy.

In every odd year, elections will be held for the regions of:
a) New South Wales and Australian Capital Territory;

b) Queensland; and

c) South Australia and Northern Territory.

In every even year, elections will be held for the regions of:

d

DIAA Lid constitution 22



a)
b)
c)

Tasmania;
Victoria; and
Western Australia.

30.6 Subject to this clause 30, the Board may determine the procedures for
the conduct of elections, the nomination process and how results are to
be announced.

31. Vacation of office of Director

31.1  Any Director may resign by giving written notice to the Company through
the Secretary of their intention to resign and the resignation will take
effect at the time of receipt of the notice or a later time expressed in the
notice provided that the time is not later than the next meeting of the
Board.

31.2 The office of a Director becomes vacant if the Director:

a)
b)

c)
d)

e)

f)

9)

h)

i)
)
k)

1)

is subject to any of the circumstances prescribed by the Act;

becomes an individual who is, or whose estate is, liable to be dealt
with in any way under the law relating to mental health;

dies;

becomes bankrupt or makes any arrangement or composition with
their creditors generally,

is convicted on indictment of an offence and the Board does not
within 2 months after that conviction resolve to confirm the Director's
appointment to the office of Director;

is absent from all meetings of the Board during a 8 months’ period,
with or without the consent of the Board, unless at the next meeting
of the Board, the Board resolves otherwise;

fails to attend face-to-face at least 2 meetings of the Board during a
12 months’ period, unless at the next meeting of the Board, the
Board resolves otherwise;

has failed to disclose a material personal interest that would be
required to be disclosed under the Act unless at the next meeting of
the Board, the Board resolves otherwise;

is an Elected Director and ceases to be a Full Member;
is an Elected Director and ceases to be a financial Member:

is removed as a Director by an ordinary resolution of the Company
in general meeting, subject to the Act; or

is or becomes a paid employee of the Company.

32. No alternate Directors

32.1 Directors are not entitled to appoint alternate Directors.

DIAA Ltd constitution



33. interested Directors

33.1

33.2

33.3

334

Subject to rule 31.2h) & 31.21), a Director may hold any cther office
{(other than auditor) in the Company or any related body corporate in
conjunction with their directorship and may be appointed to that office
upon such terms as to tenure of office and otherwise as the Directors
think fit, except that the Director may not receive remuneration in that
other capacity.

A Director is not disqualified merely because of being a Director from
contracting with the Company in any respect including, without limitation,
any of the following:

a) selling any property to, or purchasing any property from, the
Company;

b) guaranteeing the repayment of any money borrowed by the
Company for a commission or profit; and

¢) acting in any professional capacity, other than auditor, on behalf of
the Company.

A Director who is in any way interested in any contract or arrangement
or proposed contract or arrangement may, despite that interest:

a) be counted, if they are present at the time of commencing to deal
with the matter, in determining whether or not a quorum is present at
any meeting of the Board that is considering that contract or
arrangement or proposed contract or arrangement;

b) vote in respect of, or in respect of any matter arising out of, the
contract or arrangement or propoased confract or arrangement; and

¢) sign or countersign any document relating to that contract or
arrangement or proposed contract or arrangement that the
Company may execute.

The Board may make regulations requiring the disclosure of interests
that a Director, and any person deemed by the Board to be related to or
associated with the Director, may have in any matter concerning the
Company or a related body corporate and any regulations made under
this Constitution shall bind all Directors.

34. Payments to Directors

34.1

Directors shall not be entitled to payment of fees as a Director except
that the Board may resolve to pay remuneration to a Director for
services rendered as a Director in the capacity of President. However,
any such payment:

a) must be fair and reasonable or more favourable to the Company;
b) must be on reasonable commercial terms;

¢) may only be made if the Full Members have set an amount for
remuneration of the role of President; and

d) the total amount paid in any year must not exceed the maximum
amount fixed by the Full Members.

DIAA Ltd constitution 24



34.2

Having regard to rule 8.2, payments may be made to any Director for:

a) out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Director in the performance
of any duty as a Director where the amount payable does not
exceed an amount previously agreed by the Board; and

b) any service rendered to the Company by the Director in a
professional or technical capacity, other than in the capacity as a
Director, where the provision of the service has the prior approval of
the Board and is not more than an amount which commercially
would be reasonable for the service.

35. Powers and duties of Directors

36.

35.1

35.2

353

35.4

35.5

35.6

The Directors are responsible for the control, ultimate management and
conduct of the Company. The Board may exercise to the exclusion of
the Company in general meeting all the powers of a company that are
not required by the Act or by this Constitution to be exercised by the
Company in general meeting.

The Board may determine how money and other assets of the Company
are managed and how payments are made by or on behalf of the
Company.

The Board may from time to time confer upon any Director for the time
being or any other person or office or operational committee as they
may select such of the powers exercisable under this Constitution by the
Board as it may think fit from time to time and to be exercised for such
purposes and on such terms and conditions and with such restrictions
as it may think expedient.

a) Powers conferred under rule 35.3 may be exercised concurrently
with the powers of the Board in that regard and the Board may from
time to time withdraw, revoke or vary all or any such powers with or
without cause subject to any applicable contract between the
Company and the relevant person and subject to any applicable
industrial law,

In exercising any power, the Directors must do so in accordance with
any duties and obligations imposed on them by the Act.

The Board may adopt from time to time by laws for the proper
administration of the Company.

Subject to rule 21.2 any question or dispute relating to or arising from
this Constitution shall be referred to the Board for determination
provided that nothing in this Constitution reduces any rights a Member
may have at law.

Proceedings of Directors

36.1

36.2

The Directors may meet together for the despatch of business and
adjourn and otherwise regulate their meetings as they think fit.

The planned contemporaneous linking together of Directors by
technologies, such as telephone or other electronic means, that are
consented to by all Directors at least annually and that aliow reasonable

DIAA Ltd constitution 25



37.

38.

36.3

36.4

interaction between all participating Directors, constitutes a Board
meeting provided the number of Directors participating is sufficient to
constitute a quorum.

a) All provisions of this Constitution relating to meetings of the
Directors apply, so far as they can and with such changes as are
necessary, to meetings of Directors by such technologies.

A Director participating in a meseting by technology in accordance with
rule 36.2 is taken to be present in person at the meeting.

A meseting by means of technology is to be taken to be held at the place
determined by the chair of the meeting provided that at least 1 of the
Directors involved was at that place for the duration of the meeting.

Convening of a Board meeting

37.1

37.2

The President or any 2 or more Directors may, whenever they think fit,
convene a Board meeting.

A Secretary must, when requested by the President or on the written
requisition of any 2 or more Directors, convene a Board meeting.

Notice of a Board meeting

38.1

38.2

38.3

38.4

38.5

38.6

Subject to this Constitution, notice of a Board meeting must be given to
each individual who is at the time of giving the notice a Director, other
than a Director on leave of absence approved by the Board.

Only Directors have a right to notice of a meeting of the Directors and to
attend a meeting of the Board. Any other person in attendance is in
attendance at the invitation of the Board and must leave if directed to by
the chair of the meeting.

A notice of a Board meeting:
a) must specify the time and place of the meeting;

b) should where practicable state the nature of the business to be
transacted at the meeting;

¢) may be given immediately before the meeting;

d) may be given in person or by post or by telephone, fax, email or
other electronic means; and

e) if technological connection of Directors is to be involved, must
identify how that connection is to be made.

Unless special circumstances apply, at least 7 days’ notice of a mesting
of the Directors should be given.

A Director may waive notice of any Board meeting by notifying the
Secretary to that effect in person or by post or by telephone, fax, email
or other electronic means.

The non-receipt of notice of a Board meeting by, or failure to give notice
of a meeting to, a Director does not invalidate any act, matter or thing
done or resolution passed at the meeting:

DIAA Ltd constitution 26



39.

40.

41.

38.7

a) if the non-receipt or failure occurred by accident or error;
b) if before or after the meeting, the Director;
¢) has waived or waives notice of that meeting under rule 38.5; or

d} has notified or notifies the Secretary of their agreement to that act,
matter, thing or resolution personally or by post or by telephone, fax,
email or other electronic means; or

e) the Director attended the meeting.

Attendance by a Director at a Board meeting waives any objection that
the Director may have to a failure to give notice of the meeting.

Quorum at a Board meeting

391

39.2
39.3

No business may be transacted at a Board meeting unless a quorum of
Directors is present during the time the business is dealt with, subject to
rule 39.3.

A quorum at a Board mesting is a majority of Directors in office.

A Director who is present and is disqualified from voting on a matter
pursuant to rule 33 shall be counted in the quorum despite that
disqualification, even if they do not participate in that part of the meeting
from which they are disqualified from voting.

President and Vice President

401

40.2

40.3

40.4

The Board must elect, from amongst their number, 1 Director to the
position of President and 1 Director to the position of Vice President at
least annually and in any event at the first meeting of the Board following
the 1t September. Subject to this rule, the Board may determine the
period for which a Director is to be President or Vice President.

The President and Vice President has such powers and duties as
specified in this Constitution, as required by law and as determined by
the Board.

The President must if present within 15 minutes after the time appointed
for the holding of the meeting, and if willing to act, preside as chair of
each Board meeting.

a) [f the President is absent or is unable or unwilling to act, then the
Vice President shali preside and if the Vice President is not present
or is unable or is unwilling to act, the remaining Directors shall
choose another Director who is able and willing to act to preside as
chair at the meeting or for part of the mesting.

Despite anything in rule 40.3a) if the President later attends a Board
meeting or is later willing to act then they must take the role of chair of
the meeting.

Decisions of Directors

41.1

A Board meeting at which a quorum is present is a meeting of the Board
and is competent to exercise all or any of the authorities, powers and

DIAA Ltd constitution rig



42.

43.

41.2

41.3

discretions vested in or exercisable by the Directors under this
Constitution.

Subject to rule 14.1, questions arising at a meeting of the Board are to
be decided by at least a simple majority of votes cast by the Directors
present and entitled to vote and any such decision is for all purposes a
determination of the Board.

In the case of an equality of votes upon any proposed resolution the
chair of the meeting, in addition to any deliberative vote, does not have a
casting vote and the resolution is not passed.

Circulating resolutions

421

422

42.3

42.4

42.5

The Directors may pass a resolution without a Board meeting if the
Directors entitled to vote on the resolution sign a document containing a
statement of the resolution set out in the document. For this purpose,
signatures can be contained in more than 1 document and can include
electronically transmitted signatures.

A resolution under rule 42.1 shall be deemed to have been passed if the
Directors who have responded have signed a document containing a
statement that they are in favour of the resolution set out in the
document provided that the number of Directors in favour is sufficient for
a quorum at a Board meeting in accordance with rule 39.2.

Resolutions passed in accordance with rule 42.2 are to be taken fo have
been passed on the date that is the later of:

a) the date 1 week after the resolution was distributed to Directors or
such other date as may be specified in the document accompanying
the proposed resolution; or

b) on the date the resolution was assented to by the final Director
whose support resulted in the number of Directors in favour of the
resolution equalling the number that is a quorum in favour.

For rule 42.1 a Director may signify assent to a document by signing the
document or by notifying the Secretary of the Director's assent in person
or by post or by telephone, fax, email or other electronic means.

Where a Director signifies assent to a document other than by signing
the document, the Director must by way of confirmation sign the
document at the next Board meeting attended by that Director, but
failure to do so does not invalidate the resolution te which the document
relates.

Committees of the Board

43.1

43.2

The Board may form and delegate any of its powers to a committee of
the Board consisting of such Directors and other individuals as the
Board thinks fit and may from time to time revoke such delegation.
Subject to rule 43.5 all such committees of the Board must be chaired by
a Director.

A committee of the Board must, in exercise of the powers delegated to
it, conform to any directions and restrictions that may be imposed on it

DIAA Ltd constitution 28



4,

45.

46.

43.3

43.4

43.5

43.6

by the Board. A power so exercised will be taken to be exercised by the
Board.

Subject to rule 43.2 the meetings and proceedings of any committee of
the Board consisting of more than 1 individual will be governed, so far as
they can and with such changes as are necessary, by the provisions for
regulating the meetings and proceedings of the Board contained in this
Constitution.

A minute of all the proceedings and resolutions of every committee of
the Board shall be made, entered and signed in the same manner in all
respects as minutes of proceedings of the Board are required by the Act
and this Constitution {o be made, entered and signed, A copy of these
Committee minutes shall be tabled at the next practicable Board
meeting.

If the Board establishes an audit-type committee of the Board it will
consist of at least 3 individuals including at least 1 Director.
Notwithstanding rule 43.1 the chair may be, but need not be, a Director.

a) The President shall not be eligible to be a member of such an audit-
type committee of the Board.

Subject to rule 43.5 the Board may delegate any of its powers to 1
Director or an Officer.

a) A Director or Officer to whom any powers have been so deiegated
must exercise the powers delegated in accordance with any
directions of the Board.

Validity of acts of Directors

44.1

All acts done at any meeting of the Board or a committee of the Board
attended by an individual acting as a Director shall be valid even if it is
later discovered that there was a defect in the appointment of the
individual as a Director or the individual being disqualified to be a
Director or having vacated office or the Director or individual not being
entitled to vote, provided the circumstance was not known by the
Director or individual or committee of the Board when the act was done.

ADMINISTRATION

Branches

45.1

45.2
453

Branches are geographical segments of the membership representing
one or more State or Territory of Australia. The Board may establish,
dissolve and amend Branches according to the needs of the Company.

Each Branch shall have a Branch Committee.

The Branch Committees must comply with any by-laws or terms or
conditions set by the Board to govern the operations of the Branch.

Secretary

45.1

The Board must appoint at least 1 Secretary who may, but need not, be
a Director or a Member or an employee.

DIAA Ltd constitution 29



47.

48.

49.

46.2

46.3

The Secretary holds office on such terms and conditions as to
remuneration and otherwise as the Board determines.

The Board may remove any Secretary so appointed, subject to the
terms of any contract and the law.

Minutes

471

47.2

47.3

47.4

47.5

The Board must ensure that minutes of proceedings and resolutions of
general meetings of the Company and of Board meetings (including
committees of the Board) are recorded in books kept for that purpose
within 1 month following the relevant meeting.

The Board must ensure that minutes of resolutions passed by the Board
and committees of the Board without a meeting are recorded in books
kept for the purpose within 1 month after the resolution is passed.

The minutes of a meeting must be signed within a reasonable time after
the mesting by the chair of the meeting or the chair of the following
meeting.

The minutes of a passing of a resolution without a meeting must be
signed by a Director within a reasonable time after the resolution is
passed.

A minute that is recorded and signed in accordance with rule 47 is
evidence of the proceeding or resolution to which it relates unless the
contrary is proved.

Inspection of records

48.1

48.2

48.3

48.4

The Board must ensure that the minute books for general meetings are
open for inspection by Members free of charge.

Subject to rule 48.1, the Board may determine whether and to what
extent, and at what times and places and under what conditions, the
minute books, financial records and other documents of the Company or
any of them, will be open to inspection by Members other than Directors.

A Member other than a Director does not have the right to inspect any
books, records or documents of the Company except as provided by law
or authorised by the Board.

Notwithstanding rule 48.2, a previous Director has a right to inspect
minute books and related papers for meetings of the Directors and
committees of the Board for the period covering when they were a
Director.

Accounts and audit

49.1

49.2

49.3

The Company must prepare and deal with such accounts as are
required by the Act.

If required by the Act, the Board must cause the financial records of the
Company to be audited in accordance with the requirements of the Act.

The financial year shall be the period of 12 months ending on 31
December, unless the Board determines a different end date.

DIAA Ltd constitution 30



50. Notices

50.1

50.2

50.3

50.4

50.5

50.6

A notice may be given by the Company to a Member;
a) by serving it on the Member personally;

b) by sending it by prepaid post to the Member’s address as shown in
the Register,

c) by sending it to the fax number, Electronic Contact Address or such
other address the Member has supplied to the Company for the
giving of notices;

d) by making a copy of it accessible electronically on a website of, or
related to, the Company and advising the Member of its availability
via the Electrenic Contact Address; or

e} by publishing it in a regular newsletter publication of the Company to
Members which publication may be printed or be electronic or
internet based.

The fact that a Member has supplied a fax number or email or other
electronic address for the giving of notices:

a} does not require the Company to give any notice to that person by
fax or email or other electronic means; or

b) does not prevent the Company from giving notice to that person in
the manner envisaged by rule 50.1.

Any Member who has not provided to the Company a place of address
or Electronic Contact Address for inclusion in the Register as the place
at or via which notices may be given to the Member shall not be entitled
to receive any notice, subject to rule 50.6.

Subject to this Constitution, a notice may be given by the Company to
any Director either by serving it personally at, or by sending it by prepaid
post to, the Director's usual residential or business address, or by
sending it to the fax number, Electronic Contact Address, or such other
address as the Director has supplied to the Company for the giving of
notices.

Subject to this Constitution, a notice may be given by a Member or a
Director to the Company by serving it on the Company at, or by sending
it by prepaid post to, the registered office or principal place of business if
any of the Company or by sending it to the principal fax number or
principal electronic address of the Company at its registered office or
principal place of business, if any.

Where a Member does not have a registered address or Electronic
Contact Address or where the Company has bona fide reason to believe
that a Member is not known at the Member’s registered address or
Electronic Contact Address, all future notices are deemed to be given to
the Member if the notice is exhibited in the Registered Office, if any, for
a period of 48 hours (and is deemed to be duly served at the
commencement of that period) unless and until the Member informs the
Company of a registered address or Electronic Contact Address.

DIAA Ltd constitution 31



51. Time of service of notices

51.1 Where a notice is sent by post, service of the notice is to be taken to be
effected if a prepaid envelope containing the notice is properly
addressed and placed in the post and to have been effected:

a) in the case of a notice of a general meeting — on the Business Day
after the date of its posting; or

b} in any other case — 3 Business Days after it is posted.

51.2 Where a notice is sent by fax or email or other electronic means, service
of the notice is to be taken to be effected on the Business Day after the
date it is sent.

51.3 Where the Company gives a notice under rule 50.1d), service of the
notice is to be taken to be effected when the notice was first so made
accessible.

51.4 When the Company gives notice under rule 50.1e), service of the notice
is to be taken to be effected on the Business Day after the day on which
the notice was first published.

51.5 Rules 50 & 51 apply, so far as they can and with such changes as are
necessary as determined by the Board, to the service of any other
communication or document.

52. Execution of documents

52.1 The Company may execute a document only if authorised:
a) by the Board; or
b) in accordance with any delegation made by the Board.

52.2 Without limiting the manner in which the Company may execute any
approved contract, including as permitted under the Act, the Company
may execute any agreement, deed or other document by:

a) 2 Directors signing the same; or
b) 1 Director and 1 Secretary signing the same.

52.3 Nothing in this Constitution requires the Company to execute any
agreement, deed or other document under common seal for the same to
be executed effectively by the Company.

52.4 The Board may at any time determine that the Company shall have a
common seal and if so:

a) the Board must provide for its safe custody; and
b) it may only be used as authorised by the Directors.

53. Indemnity and insurance

53.1 Subject to rule 53.2, the Company must indemnify each individuat who is
a Director or a Secretary on a full indemnity basis and to the full extent
permitied by law against all liabilities, including a loss, liability, cost,
charge or expense, incurred by the Director or Secretary, including
without limitation:

DIAA Ltd constitution 32



a) a liability for negligence; and
b) a liability for reasonable legal costs.

563.2 The indemnity in rule 53.1 does not operate in relation to any liability
which:

a) is a liability of the Company or any of its related bodies corporate;

b) is a liability for a pecuniary penalty order under the Act or a
compensation order under the Act; or

¢) arises out of conduct of the Director or Secretary which was not in
good faith, or which involved wilful misconduct, gross negligence,
reckless misbehaviour or fraud.

53.3 The indemnity in rule 53.1:

a) does not extend to and is not an indemnity against any amount in
respect of which the indemnity wouid otherwise be illegal, void,
unenforceable or not permitted by law; and

b} does not operate in respect of any liability of the Director or
Secretary to the extent that that liability is covered by insurance.

53.4 For each Director and Secretary against any liability incurred by them as
a Director or Secretary including, but not limited to, a liability for
negligence or for reasonable costs and expenses incurred in defending
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, and whatever their outcome the
Company may, 1o the extent permitted by law:

a) purchase and maintain insurance; or
b) pay or agree to pay a premium for insurance.

54. Winding up

54.1 If any property remains following the winding up or dissolution of the
Company after satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities, this property will
not be paid to or distributed amongst Members, but will be given or
transferred to another institution or body corporate that has:

a) purposes that are similar to the Purposes;

b} a constitution that requires its income and property to be applied to
promoting its purposes; and

c) a constitution that prohibits it from paying or distributing its income
and property amongst its members to an extent at least as great as
imposed on the Company by rule 8.1,

54.2 The identity of the institution or body corporate is to be determined by
the Full Members at or before the time of dissolution and failing such
determination being made, by the Directors at or before the time of
dissolution and failing such determination by application to the court for
determination.

§5. Changes to this Constitution
55.1 This Constitution may only be amended in accordance with the Act.

DIAA Ltd constitution 33



56. Transitional provisions

56.1

56.2

56.3

56.4

56.5

In this rule 56, DIAA Inc means Dairy Industry Association of Australia
Inc {(incorporation number A0008622E)

On registration of the Company all Members listed in the register of
members of DIAA Inc shall become Members of the Company in the
following classes:

a) Members with an entitlement to vote become Full Members in
accordance with this Constitution;

b) associate members and other members without an entitlement to
vote become Associate Members in accordance with this
Constitution.

On registration of the Company:

a) the State Representative Council of DIAA Inc shall cease but the
voting members of the State Representative Council shall continue
as Directors in accordance with this Constitution subject to their
consent even if that results in there being more Directors than are
permitted under rule 26.1. For clarity, the State Representative
Council members without voting rights as listed in rules 44(4) and
44(5) of the constitution of DIAA Inc will not continue as Directors.

b) The terms of Directors under rule 56.3 will end immediately prior to
the commencement of the terms of Directors elected under rule
56.4.

Despite rules 30.4 and 30.5, the Board will call an election for all 6
Elected Director positions as soon as reasonably practical after
registration of the Company. Directors so elected will commence their
term at a date that will be set by the Board that is no later than 3 weeks
after the completion of any ballots and will end their term as follows:

a) Elected Directors elected by the following regions will serve until 31%t
August 2021 unless their term ceases earlier in accordance with this
Constitution, but may be eligible for re-election:

i) New South Wales and Australian Capital Territory;
ii) Queensland, and
iii) South Australia and Northern Territory.

b) Elected Directors elected by the following regions will serve until 313
August 2022 unless their term ceases earlier in accordance with this
Constitution, but may be eligible for re-election:

i) Tasmania;
i) Victoria; and
i) Western Australia.

For the purposes of determining the term limits under rule 27.4 any

continuous period that a Director has served prior to their first election

under this Constitution will not count.
V4

DIAA Ltd constitution 34



56.6

56.7

56.9

Appointed Directors — there are no Appointed Directors in office when
this Constitution becomes effective. The Board from when this
Constitution becomes effective may appoint Appointed Directors in
accordance with rules 26.2 & 27.3 even if that results in the total number
of Directors exceeding the limit in total rule 26.1

President - the President in office when this Constitution becomes
effective becomes the President in accordance with rule 40.1 untit they
are replaced as President in accordance with this Constitution.

Vice President — the Vice President in office when this Constitution
becomes effective becomes the Vice President in accordance with rule
40.1 until they are replaced as Vice President in accordance with this
Constitution.

The remaining office bearers under the constitution that is replaced by
this constitution (immediate Past President, Secretary and Treasurer)
cease to be office bearers in those roles when this Constitution becomes
effective but remain Directors.

56.10 Immediately there are no Directors in office whose term limits are

subject to rule 56.5 then rule 56 shall cease to have a purpose and shall
be removed from the Constitution and be replaced with the word
‘deleted (date)’.

END OF CONSTITUTION

DIAA Ltd constitution 35



[}
inm wpe
]

LT

1

|




	Board nomination Pack v 3
	NOMINATION OF MEMBER FOR POSITION OF DIRECTOR
	NOMINEE’S CONSENT AND DECLARATION
	NOMINEE'S CONSENT AND DECLARATION

	BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS – NOMINEE FOR DIRECTOR

	DIAA Non Executive Position Description - Draft
	The role:
	Organisational values and code of conduct:
	Competencies and skills (role related):
	Competencies (personal attributes):
	Educational requirements:
	Remuneration and benefits:

	DIAA Board Charter (1)
	1 Overview
	2 Role of the Board
	3 Responsibilities and functions
	3.1 Strategic Direction
	3.2 Policy setting
	3.3 Finance and Accounting
	3.4 Risk Management
	3.5 Reporting and Monitoring
	3.6 Compliance
	3.7 Corporate Governance
	3.8 Appointments
	3.9 Communication

	4 Board composition
	5 Role of President and Company Secretary
	5.1 President or Chair
	5.2 Company Secretary

	6 Board processes
	6.1 Board induction
	All new Directors appointed to the Board must be provided with information that covers Directors’ roles and responsibilities, Board operations and overview of the association.
	6.2 Board records

	7 Association obligation to Directors
	7.1 Protections

	8 Review of Board performance
	9 Review of Charter

	signed copy of new constitution (6)



